No. 70462-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT G. ISABEL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mariane Spearman

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial for a witness's non-responsive inflammatory testimony.
- 2. Mr. Isabel's Sixth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment rights to present a defense were denied when the trial court refused to instruct the jury regarding a missing witness.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. A trial court must grant a mistrial where a trial irregularity so prejudiced the jury that it denied the defendant a fair trial. Witness misconduct may be the basis for a mistrial. Here, in a non-responsive answer, the victim *sua sponte* testified about threats to himself and his family and intimated they came from Mr. Isabel. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to declare a mistrial because of the witness's misconduct, mandating reversal of Mr. Isabel's conviction?
- 2. As part of a defendant's constitutionally protected right to present a defense the defendant is entitled to instructions embodying his theory of the case if the evidence supports that theory. Here, the State failed to call as a witness the police officer who took the initial report from the victim and his cousin. The information from the police officer's initial investigation was critical to Mr. Isabel's cross-

examination of the victim. Mr. Isabel unsuccessfully sought a missing witness instruction because of the State's failure to call the police officer. Is Mr. Isabel entitled to reversal of his convictions where his right to present a defense was impermissibly infringed?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Isabel was charged with drive-by shooting and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 1-2. Prior to trial, Mr. Isabel moved to compel the testimony of Seattle Police Officer Michael Connors. 1/8/2013RP 64. Officer Connors was the first police officer to respond to Willie Watson's, the victim's cousin, 911 call. 1/8/2013RP 64-65. Officer Connors conducted the initial interview with the alleged victim, Marion Tucker. 1/8/2013RP 65. Officer Connors' interview contained information that Mr. Isabel sought to impeach Mr. Tucker. 1/8/2013RP 65. Officer Connors had left the Seattle Police Department and the State allegedly had no contact information for him. 1/8/2013RP 67. The State noted that it had issued a subpoena for Officer Connors, but had no further contact with him. 1/8/2013RP 68. The trial court ordered the State to disclose the officer's last known address:

I don't think the State or the police have an obligation to hunt down potential Defense witnesses. It includes information such as radio transmissions. They have an obligation to turn that over. They don't have an obligation to hunt for your witnesses.

But they should have the last known address of their employee. I don't know why they can't turn that over.

1/8/2013RP 69.

Mr. Isabel subsequently proposed instructing the jury that

Officer Connors was a "missing witness" as he was peculiarly available to the State:

We believe this witness, Officer Michael Connors, the State has control over this witness. He worked with the Seattle Police Department . . .

Officer Connors has records with the Seattle Police Department. Whether he has been moved or transferred, they can get a hold of them. Officer Connors has cases with the Seattle Police Department, had cases with the Seattle Police Department that were ready for trial. And the prosecutor and the Seattle Police Department would have access to him to bring them [sic] here for trials.

He is the first officer on the scene. And in his report there is some exculpatory evidence in that report from Officer Connors . . . He did write a report on this incident which is the basis for this whole investigation.

1/15/2013RP 72-73. The court refused to instruct on "missing witness":

I suggested to you that maybe you should have – if you want me to sign an order to give to the East Precinct. They must have his last known address. They must have had to send out tax information.

Frankly, this is in control of the Seattle Police Department, not the Prosecutor's Office. These are two separate entities.

. . .

The evidence that Mr. Connors would testify to would be for impeaching Mr. Tucker on the stand. It wouldn't even be substantive evidence.

. . .

The other element is that there be no satisfactory explanation of why the State didn't call the person. Obviously, the State didn't call him because they don't know where he is. He is no longer working there. Maybe the same reason the Defense can't find him.

1/15/2013RP 79.1

During the trial, Mr. Tucker provided a non-responsive answer to a question on cross-examination:

Q: You continued south after you stopped correct?

A: Uh-huh.

Q: You went to Mr. Watson's house?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: How far is Mr. Watson's house?

A: Well, I can't tell you that, actually tell you where he lives at. *Mr. Isabel's family has been threatening my*

¹ Connors' report disclosed that there were two individuals inside the car from which Mr. Isabel was alleged to have shot. 1/15/2013RP 28-30. In addition, the location of the shooting was significantly different in Connors' report from the location Mr. Tucker alleged the shooting to have occurred. *Id.* at 28-29.

friends and my family and my kids. So I can't tell you that.

1/10/2013RP 123 (emphasis added). Mr. Isabel immediately objected to the answer as nonresponsive. *Id.* The court merely answered by stating, "Ask another question." *Id.*

At the end of that day's trial testimony, Mr. Isabel moved for a mistrial based upon Mr. Tucker's nonresponsive answer regarding threats. 1/10/2013RP 136. Mr. Isabel argued this testimony by Mr. Tucker was particularly prejudicial because of the fact he was charged with drive-by shooting. 1/14/2013RP 4-5. The trial court denied the motion for a mistrial, noting:

[T]he statement is not attributed to Mr. Isabel. It's attributed to Mr. Isabel's family. And presumably Mr. Isabel doesn't have 100 percent control of his family members.

There was no motion in limine to instruct the witness not to mention that, so there's been no motion in limine violated. I do not find it to be inherently prejudicial.

1/14/2013RP 10. The court then went further and without prompting stated: "And at this point, I don't think it would be in the Defendant's best interest to admonish the jury about it and bring it up again." *Id.*

At the conclusion of the jury trial, Mr. Isabel was convicted as charged. CP 54-55.

D. ARGUMENT

P.2d 809 (1979).

- 1. MR. TUCKER'S UNRESPONSIVE
 TESTIMONY ABOUT THREATS TO
 HIMSELF AND HIS FAMILY WARRANTED
 A MISTRIAL
- a. Mistrial is a remedy for a witness's improper testimony. A court should grant a mistrial when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that he will be tried fairly. State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407 (1986). Generally, the trial court has wide discretion in dealing with irregularities that arise at trial. State v. Blum, 17 Wn.App. 37, 42, 561 P.2d 226 (1977). A court should grant a mistrial when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be tried fairly. State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 707, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). Those errors that may have affected the outcome of the trial are prejudicial. State v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590

In deciding whether a remark was so prejudicial as to deny a defendant his right to a fair trial, a court examines (1) the seriousness of the remark, (2) whether it involved cumulative evidence, and (3) whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it. *State v. Johnson*, 124 Wn.2d 57, 76, 873 P.2d 514 (1994); *State v. Hopson*,

113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989). A trial court's denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Greiff,* 141 Wn.2d 910, 921, 10 P.3d 390 (2000); *State v. Wade,* 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999). "An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Greiff,* 141 Wn.2d at 921. This Court will overturn a trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial when there is a substantial likelihood the prejudice affected the jury's verdict. *Greiff,* 141 Wn.2d at 921.

b. Mr. Tucker's unsolicited non-responsive statement regarding threats to him and his family were substantially prejudicial and required a mistrial. Despite the prejudicial nature of Mr. Tucker's testimony, the trial court denied the mistrial motion and inexplicably refused *sua sponte* to admonish the jury to ignore his inflammatory comments. Mr. Isabel submits this must result in the reversal of his convictions.

Witness misconduct generally entails a witness providing intentionally inadmissible and unsolicited testimony or engaging in extraordinary conduct likely to prejudice the trier of fact. *See State v. Taylor*, 60 Wn.2d 32, 33, 371 P.2d 617 (1962) (police officer

intentionally twice injected impermissible testimony that the defendant had a parole officer); *Storey v. Storey*, 21 Wn.App. 370, 372, 585 P.2d 183 (1978) (witness purposely injected impermissible testimony to influence the jury), *review denied*, 91 Wn.2d 1017 (1979); *State v. Harstad*, 17 Wn.App. 631, 638, 564 P.2d 824 (1977) (witness cried and embraced one of the defendants), *review denied*, 89 Wn.2d 1013 (1978).

In *Taylor*, the trial court granted both defendants a new trial because of a non-responsive answer by a police officer that the defendant had a parole officer. *Taylor*, 60 Wn.2d at 33-34. The trial court ruled:

There is, it seems to me, a great probability that all of this may have revealed to at least some members of the jury that the defendant Taylor had been in previous trouble with the law. They were not told in so many words that Taylor had previously been convicted of another crime, but it was made evident that he was on probation. Laymen might easily conclude from this that he had committed one or more previous offenses.

Id. at 35.

In *Johnson*, a spectator's angry outburst during trial was directed towards the judge and jury. *Johnson*, 124 Wn.2d at 76-77. The woman "insulted the State's witnesses and asserted that the defendant was not a gang member." *Id.* at 76. Important to the

decision to affirm the denial of a motion for a mistrial was the fact the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the outburst. *Id.* at 77.

Finally, in *State v. Bourgeois*, a spectator glared at a witness and made a hand-gesture in the nature of pointing a gun at the witness. 133 Wn.2d 389, 408, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Because fear and retaliation were central themes in the State's case, the gesture arguably reinforced the impression that the defendant and his friends were the type of people that harm those who testify against them. *Id.* The Supreme Court found the irregularity serious but affirmed the denial of a mistrial because the trial court did not learn of it until after the trial and, consequently, was unable to instruct the jury to disregard it. *Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d at 409.

The common thread in each of these cases is that while the irregularity was considered serious, critical to the affirmation of the denial of a mistrial was the trial court's subsequent instruction to the jury. Here, the error was just as serious as those in the cited decisions, but the trial court specifically, and preemptively, refused to instruct the jury, ruling that it would not be in Mr. Isabel's interest to "admonish the jury about it." 1/14/2013RP 10. Mr. Isabel never had the option of asking the court for an admonishment or curative instruction.

Given the importance of curative instructions where witnesses make inflammatory comments, the trial court's inexplicable refusal to either offer to admonish the jury or give a curative instruction damaged Mr. Isabel's right to a fair trial. As a consequence, Mr. Isabel's convictions must be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

- 2. THE TRIAL COURT IMPERMISSIBLY INFRINGED MR. ISABEL'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WHEN IT REFUSED TO GIVE A MISSING WITNESS INSTRUCTION
- a. A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case. The Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee a defendant's right to a trial by jury. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 277, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2080, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993) (the Sixth Amendment protects the defendant's right to trial by an impartial jury, which includes "as its most important element, the right to have the jury, rather than the judge, reach the requisite finding of 'guilty.""). Similarly, the Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment require that criminal defendants be afforded a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984).

As part of the constitutionally protected right to present a defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions embodying his theory of the case if the evidence supports that theory. *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654, 845 P.2d 289, *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 944 (1993). The proponent of a jury instruction is entitled to have the instruction given where it describes his theory of the case and is supported by sufficient evidence. *State v. Williams*, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997). When considering whether a proposed jury instruction is supported by sufficient evidence, the trial court must take the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the requesting party. *State v. Hanson*, 59 Wn.App. 651, 656-57, 800 P.2d 1124 (1990).

This Court reviews a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury instruction *de novo* where the refusal is based on a ruling of law. *State v. White*, 137 Wn.App. 227, 230, 152 P.3d 364 (2007), *citing State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 772, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). Where the court's refusal to give a requested instruction was based on factual reasons, it is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *White*, 137 Wn.App. at 230, *citing Walker*, 136 Wn.2d at 771-72. A proposed instruction is appropriate if it properly states the law, is not misleading, and allows a party to argue

a theory of the case that is supported by the evidence. *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 493, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003).

Here, Mr. Isabel requested a missing witness instruction because of the State's failure to call a necessary witness. Mr. Isabel's right to present a defense was infringed when the trial court refused to give the requested instruction.

b. A defendant is entitled to a missing witness instruction where the evidence presented warrants it. Under the missing witness doctrine, a jury may draw an inference against a party who fails to produce a witness when that party has control of the witness and the witness is naturally in that party's interest to produce. State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 485-86, 816 P.2d 718 (1991), quoting State v. Davis, 73 Wn.2d 271, 276, 438 P.2d 185 (1968), overruled on other grounds by State v. Abdulle, 174 Wn.2d 411, 275 P.3d 1113 (2012). The missing witness inference applies in criminal cases where the State fails to call a logical witness. See, e.g., Blair, 117 Wn.2d at 487-88.

"A party's failure to produce a particular witness who would ordinarily . . . testify raises the inference in certain circumstances that the witness's testimony would have been unfavorable[]" to the party.

State v. McGhee, 57 Wn.App. 457, 462-63, 788 P.2d 603, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1013 (1990). When the missing witness rule applies, the trial court should instruct the jury that they may draw an unfavorable inference against the party failing to call the witness. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 90, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); Davis, 73 Wn.2d at 281. The rationale behind this requirement is "that a party will likely call as a witness one who is bound to him by ties of affection or interest unless the testimony will be adverse, and that a party with a close connection to a potential witness will be more likely to determine in advance what the testimony would be." Blair, 117 Wn.2d at 490, quoting Davis, 73 Wn.2d at 277. The negative inference from a failure to call a witness arises whenever the witness is "particularly available" to a party and the witness's testimony would be important and necessary to that party's case. Davis, 73 Wn.2d at 276-78.

To obtain a missing witness instruction in a criminal case, the defendant is not required to prove that the State deliberately suppressed unfavorable evidence. *McGhee*, 57 Wn.App. at 463. Rather, the defendant must establish circumstances indicating that the State would not knowingly fail to call the witness unless the witness's testimony would be damaging to the State. *Davis*, 73 Wn.2d at 280. "In other

words, 'the inference is based, not on the bare fact that a particular person is not produced as a witness, but on his non-production when it would be natural for him to produce the witness if the facts known by him had been favorable." *Davis*, 73 Wn.2d at 280 (citations omitted).

In addition, a missing witness instruction is appropriate when the uncalled witness is "peculiarly available" to the State. *Davis*, 73 Wn.2d at 276. For a witness to be "peculiarly available" to the State, there must have been a community of interest between the State and the witness, or the State must have such a superior opportunity for knowledge of a witness that there was a reasonable probability that the witness would have been called to testify for the State except that the testimony would have been damaging. *Id.* at 277. Accordingly, a party seeking the benefit of the inference must show the missing witness was "peculiarly within the other party's power to produce." *Id.*

Failure to give a warranted missing witness instruction is reversible error. *Id.* at 280-81.

c. Seattle Police Officer Connors was "peculiarly available" to the State. The trial court was persuaded by the fact Officer Connors could have been called as a witness by either party, thus he was not "peculiarly available" to the State because the police department and the prosecutor's offices are "separate entities."

1/15/13RP 78. But, as stated in Davis, the mere fact the officer was available to both parties to subpoena or call as a witness is not determinative. 73 Wn.App. at 276. Rather, the critical question is the relationship between Officer Connors and the respective parties.

The decision in *Davis, supra*, directly contradicts the trial court's conclusion here that the police officer was equally available to both parties and that the police department and the prosecutor are "separate entities:"

We are of the opinion that, under the facts of the case at bar, the uncalled witness was not equally available to either party as argued by the state, but rather was 'peculiarly available' to the prosecution as these words are defined above. The uncalled witness was a member of the same law enforcement agency as the testifying officer. He was the only other witness to the interrogation. The law enforcement agency of which he was a member was responsible for investigating and gathering all the evidence relative to the charges made against Belknap. The uncalled witness worked so closely and continually with the county prosecutor's office with respect to this and other criminal cases as to

indicate a community of interest between the prosecutor and the uncalled witness.

Davis, 73 Wn.2d at 277-78.

Officer Connors had been a Seattle Police Officer. It would have been "natural" for the State to call Officer Connors as a witness like it calls other police officers in countless criminal cases. Further, under *Davis* there is a "community of interest" between the police and prosecutor's office. *Id.* Although Connors no longer worked for the Seattle Police Department, the Department would still have a way of contacting Connors as cases on which he worked would still be pending and the prosecutor's office would have had to subpoena him for trial in those pending cases.

In addition, contrary to the trial court's conclusion, Connors' testimony would have been critical to Mr. Isabel's defense. Mr. Isabel's defense rested on proving Mr. Tucker's lack of credibility. Here, that would have been shown to the jury by impeaching Mr. Tucker with the difference between in his statements given initially to Officer Connors, who was the first responding police officer, and those given later to Detective Hughey. As a consequence, Mr. Isabel was denied his constitutionally protected right to present a defense because he was denied the ability to argue his theory of the case, that Mr.

Tucker should not have been considered credible by the jury. Mr.

Isabel submits this Court must reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial for the failure to instruct the jury on the missing witness.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Mr. Isabel asks this Court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.