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

C. ARGUMENT 

Isabel makes two arguments on appeal. First, he argues 

that the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial after Tucker 

explained he was reluctant to give his cousin's address on the 

record as a result of threats that Isabel's family had made to 

Tucker's friends and family. This argument should be rejected 

because the remark was not attributed to Isabel and the statement, 

viewed against the backdrop of all the evidence, was not so 

prejudicial that it prevented Isabel from having a fair trial. 

Second, Isabel contends that the trial court erred in refusing 

to give a missing witness instruction. This argument should also be 

rejected because the missing witness was not peculiar to the State, 

the substance of his testimony was elicited though Detective 

Hughey, and the prosecutor explained that the reason for not 

calling the witness to the stand was his inability to locate him. 

Therefore, Isabel's convictions should be affirmed. 

1. TUCKER'S STATEMENT THAT ISABEL'S FAMILY 
HAD MADE THREATS WAS NOT SO PREJUDICIAL 
AS TO WARRANT A MISTRIAL. 

Isabel argues that Tucker's response to a question during 

cross-examination was so prejudicial that it denied him his right to a 
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fair trial. Defense counsel asked Tucker where Watson's house 

was located. Tucker responded, "Well, I can't tell you that, actually 

tell you where he lives at. Mr. Isabel's family has been threatening 

my friends and my family and my kids. So I can't tell you that." 

3RP 123. This remark was not about Isabel or his conduct. 

Rather, the remark was about his family's behavior. Thus, the 

statements did not prejudice Isabel and his argument should be 

rejected. 

The appellate court reviews the decision to grant or not to 

grant a mistrial under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. 

Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 254, 742 P.2d 190, 192 (1987). As a 

general rule, the trial courts have wide discretionary powers in 

conducting a trial and dealing with irregularities which arise. State 

v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612,590 P.2d 809 (1979). To determine 

whether a trial was fair, the court should look to the trial irregularity 

and determine whether it may have influenced the jury. State v. 

Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165-66,659 P.2d 1102 (1983). A mistrial 

should be granted only when "nothing the trial court could have said 

or done would have remedied the harm done to the defendant." 

Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d at 612. In other words, a mistrial should be 

granted only when the defendant has been so prejudiced that 
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nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be 

tried fairly. Only those errors, which may have affected the 

outcome of the trial, are prejudicial. ~ 

In deciding if a witness statement or remark prejudiced the 

jury, courts examine whether the remark, "viewed against the 

backdrop of all the evidence," was so prejudicial that it denied the 

defendant his right to a fair trial. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 254. 

The trial judge is best suited to determine the prejudice of a 

statement. ~ at 254-55. In making such determinations, courts 

consider the seriousness of the claimed trial irregularity, whether it 

was cumulative of other properly admitted evidence, and whether 

it could be cured by an instruction to disregard. Escalona, 49 

Wn. App. at 254. 

In Escalona, the defendant was charged with assault in the 

second degree while armed with a deadly weapon. 49 Wn. App. at 

252. Before trial, the court granted a motion in limine to exclude 

any testimony regarding the defendant's prior conviction for the 

same crime. ~ At trial, the victim testified that he was nervous 

when the defendant threatened him with a knife because the 

defendant had a record and had stabbed someone before. ~ at 

253. This Court concluded that the combination of the serious 
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irregularity, coupled with the weakness of the State's case and the 

relevance of the victim's statement, prejudiced the defendant. ~ at 

256. 

This case is distinguishable from Escalona for three reasons. 

First, Tucker's statement was not in violation of a motion in limine, 

4RP 7, 10; second, the comment did not relate to Isabel's 

propensity to commit a crime, nor propensity to commit the crime 

for which he was on trial; and third, there was ample evidence from 

which the jury could convict Isabel. In Escalona, the Court noted 

that the improper testimony was "particularly serious considering 

the paucity of credible evidence against [the defendant]." 

49 Wn. App. at 255. 

By contrast, in State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273,778 P.2d 

1014 (1989), the court affirmed the denial of a mistrial because "the 

jury had overwhelming evidence favoring conviction." ~ at 286. 

Similar to Hopson, there was overwhelming evidence presented 

here to support Isabel's convictions. The surveillance video from 

Providence Market showed a Suburban known to be associated 

with Isabel following Tucker's Mercedes moments before the 

shooting; the evidence of Isabel's cellular phone through 

triangulation placed Isabel within less than a mile from the area, 
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shortly before and shortly after Tucker was shot; only a few days 

before the shooting Isabel was angry with Tucker's involvement 

with Bacani and told Tucker "you better watch your back"; two shell 

casings were located at the location where Tucker said he had 

been shot; Tucker first noticed the Suburban following him by his 

residence, an address which was known to Bacani; and Tucker 

identified Isabel as the shooter. Even though Tucker was the only 

eyewitness to the shooting, unlike in Escalona, the evidence 

substantially corroborated his testimony. Thus, the strength of the 

evidence against Isabel mitigates the seriousness of Tucker'S 

testimony. Moreover, as the trial court properly noted, "The 

statement is not attributed necessarily to Mr. Isabel. It's attributed 

to Mr. Isabel's family. And presumably, Mr. Isabel doesn't have 

100 percent control of his family members." 4RP 10. 

Isabel puts great weight in the trial court's failure to give a 

curative instruction. He argues the trial court "inexplicably refused 

sua sponte to admonish the jury to ignore his inflammatory 

comments." App. Br. 7. This argument misstates the record and 

obfuscates his failure to timely seek redress for Tucker's remark. 

On Thursday, January 10, 2014, after Tucker responded 

during cross-examination that he could not give Watson's address 
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because of the threats made by Isabel's family, counsel objected to 

the answer as "nonresponsive." 3RP 123. The trial court instructed 

counsel to "ask another question" and counsel asked if Watson 

lived in the general area of 23rd and Jefferson, specifically, if he 

lived "one block of 23rd and Jefferson." 3RP 123. Tucker replied 

again "I don't want to put this guy in danger." 3RP 123. Counsel 

objected again and the court said, "you don't have to give an 

address." 3RP 123. Tucker replied that by giving a distance, a 

person could pinpoint to Watson's house, to which defense counsel 

said: "Your Honor, I don't believe that Mr. Watson is going to be in 

any danger."s 3RP 123-24. 

Defense counsel never moved to strike Tucker's answers 

from the record. Cross-examination continued and at the end of 

the day Isabel's attorneys moved for a mistrial. 3RP 136-37. 

During argument for a mistrial there was a disagreement as to 

whether the remark was made during direct examination or 

cross-examination. The trial court ordered a transcript of the 

8 Tucker's concerns were valid. Isabel's brother, who was in the courtroom 
during the trial, and another individual, were involved in an altercation with 
Watson and Tucker at the conclusion of Tucker's testimony. This fight took place 
in the courthouse, just outside the courtroom as Watson waited to be called to 
the witness stand. Detective Hughey and the prosecutor were assaulted as they 
intervened in an attempt to stop the altercation. Detective Hughey was slightly 
injured. 4RP 23-24. 
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relevant portion, and reserved ruling until Monday after the parties 

had an opportunity to review the record. 3RP 137. 

On Monday, January 14, 2014, the parties addressed the 

motion for a mistrial. 4RP 3. In reviewing the transcript to 

determine whether a mistrial was necessary, the court stated: 

And during the course of the witness 
answering the question of how far to Mr. Watson's 
house, the witness blur[t]s out, Mr. Isabel's family has 
been threatening my friends, my family and my kids. 
Then there's an objection ... and her objection is 
nonresponsive, which it was. 

But there was no concurrent request to strike 
the answer or for me to perhaps tell the jury to 
disregard the statement, nothing. So at this point, if 
someone had requested that, I could have corrected it 
at the time it occurred. But there wasn't any motion to 
do that. 

4RP 9-10 (italics added). 

After the court denied the defense motion for a mistrial, the 

trial court said, "At this point, I don't think it would be in the 

defendant's best interest to admonish the jury about it and bring it 

[the comment] up again." 4RP 10. If the attorneys disagreed with 

the trial court's position of not bringing up an isolated comment that 

had been made four days prior, they could have at that point 

requested a curative instruction but they did not do so. Thus, the 

record shows that the trial court did not "inexplicably refuse" to 
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admonish the jury. Rather, the trial court reasonably believed that 

telling the jury to disregard something it heard four days earlier 

would draw more attention that it was worth. Isabel's attorneys 

agreed, as they said nothing. 

In sum, Tucker's remark, although regrettable, was 

insignificant because it was not attributed to Isabel's behavior or 

prior bad acts, but rather to his family. Viewed against the 

backdrop of all the evidence, it was not so prejudicial that it denied 

Isabel a fair trial. The jury was not admonished to disregard the 

comment four days after it was made for sound reasons recognized 

by the trial court and defense counsel. This Court should hold that 

the trial court did not err in denying the defense motion for a 

mistrial, and that the trial court was not required sua sponte to give 

a curative instruction. 

2. ISABEL WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A MISSING 
WITNESS INSTRUCTION BECAUSE NO PARTY 
HAD ACCESS TO A FORMER POLICE WITNESS. 

Isabel assigns error to the trial court's refusal to give a 

missing witness instruction. His argument should be rejected 

because he was not entitled to such an instruction given that: 

1) nobody had access or was able to locate Connors; 2) the 
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testimony that Connors would have provided was elicited through 

the testimony of Detective Hughey; and 3) the State gave an 

explanation for its failure to call Connors as a witness. 

A trial court's denial of a defendant's request for a jury 

instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. David, 118 

Wn. App. 61,67,74 P.3d 686 (2003), rev. on other grounds on 

recons., 130 Wn. App. 232, 122 P.3d 764 (2005). When a party 

fails, without explanation, to call a witness it would naturally call if 

the witness' testimony would be favorable, the "missing witness" 

doctrine permits an inference that the uncalled witness' testimony 

would have been unfavorable. State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 

485-86,816 P.2d 718 (1991). The doctrine, however, does not 

require the instruction when (1) the witness is not peculiarly 

available to the party failing to call the witness; (2) the witness' 

testimony is unimportant or cumulative; or (3) the circumstances do 

not establish, as a matter of reasonable probability, that the party 

would not knowingly fail to call the witness in question unless the 

witness' testimony would be damaging. kl at 488-90. Whether 

a witness is peculiarly available to a party depends upon the 

nature of the relationship between the witness and that party. 
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State v. Reed, 168 Wn. App. 553, 572, 278 P.3d 203, rev. denied, 

290 P.3d 995 (2012). 

First, former SPD Officer Connors was not peculiarly 

available to the State because he was no longer employed with the 

police department and his whereabouts were unknown. Isabel 

relies on State v. Davis, 73 Wn.2d 271,438 P.2d 185 (1968) 

overruled on different grounds Qy State v. Abdulle, 174 Wn.2d 411 

(2012). In Davis, the defendant requested a missing witness 

instruction due to the State's failure to call a law enforcement officer 

to testify at trial. The court found that the officer was "peculiarly 

available" to the prosecution because the uncalled witness was on 

the same force as another testifying officer. kL. at 277-78. 

Connors' former employment does not automatically render him 

"peculiarly available" to the State. It is very apparent from the 

record that neither the State, or the defense, or even the lead 

detective knew how to contact him. Thus, Connors was not 

peculiarly available to the State. 

Second, the jury heard Tucker's contradictory statements 

contained in Connors' report. The following exchange took place 

during Detective Hughey's cross-examination: 
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1403-6 Isabel COA 



· . • 

Q: There was also a discrepancy as to the exact 
location of the shooting. 
A: I'm not sure about the location not being the same. 
Q: Let me get a little bit more specific here. That his 
driving lane was different on 23rd ; that he was on the 
inside lane, and the Suburban was on the outside 
lane closest to the sidewalk. 
A: Yes according to the report, that is how it was 
written. 
Q: And according to that report, he was able to 
observe Mr. Isabel through the rear driver side 
window; is that correct?" 
A: I believe that's how the report was written. 
Q: You spoke to Mr. Tucker, and he gave you a 
different story of where his car was in relation to 
where the Suburban was? 
A: In relation to Officer Connors' report, yes. 
Q: In his story to you, there was only one person in 
that Suburban? 
A: Correct. 
Q: But originally there were two individuals in the 
Suburban, in Officer Connors' synopsis? 
A: In Officer Connors' synopsis, yes, that is how it 
was written. 
Q: So Mr. Tucker's story to you, then, was only he 
was on 23rd and the Suburban was on East 
Jefferson? 
A: Correct. 
Q: And then he stated he heard shots, he said he 
had followed the Suburban going northbound on 23rd ? 
A: I actually wrote that in my report. And upon 
reviewing our transcript, I misinterpreted what 
Mr. Tucker told me, from the interview I took with 
Mr. Tucker. So that is an error I made in what you are 
referring to. 
Q: And you recovered two shell casings? 
A: Correct. 
Q: That where in the area that Mr. Tucker directed 
you to during your investigation? 
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A: He didn't necessarily direct me. But based on 
his story and what I know about how weapons work, 
I believe I should be looking in this location. 
Q: Based on what Officer Connors' report states, 
looking at South Jefferson Street, you would've not 
been looking in that area as much as you would have 
been looking at the actual 23rd Avenue? 
A: Yes. 

5RP 28-30. Isabel was able to present to the jury through 

Detective Hughey the same impeaching evidence he would have 

elicited from Connors. The "missing witness" would have not 

provided any new evidence favorable to the defense or damaging 

to the State. As the trial court correctly pointed out, the only thing 

Connors could do, would be to impeach Tucker, which the defense 

had already done in front of the jury. 5RP 78. 

Lastly, Isabel cites State v. McGhee, 57 Wn. App. 457, 

462-63, 788 P.2d 603, rev. denied, 115 Wn.2d 1013 (1990), for the 

rule of law which states that a party's failure to produce a witness 

who would naturally testify raises the inference the witness' 

testimony would have been unfavorable. However, Isabel does not 

make a showing that the State knowingly failed to call Connors 

because his testimony would be damaging . The record is clear in 

that the State did not call Connors because the prosecutor could 

not locate him. More importantly, as already noted, the potential 

- 22 -
1403-6 Isabel COA 



unfavorable testimony from Connors was elicited during the 

testimony of Detective Hughey and Tucker. During cross

examination of Tucker, defense questioned him at length about his 

statements to Connors, which differed from his statements to 

Detective Hughey, his testimony at trial, and his statements during 

the defense interview. 4RP 13-16. 

Isabel further contends that the trial court improperly 

infringed on his right to present a defense when it refused to give a 

missing witness instruction. This argument is meritless because 

Isabel was able to present and argue his defense: that Tucker had 

a motive to frame Isabel as a result of a custody battle. 6RP 33-34. 

This theory was bolstered during closing arguments by highlighting 

evidence of the conflicting statements Tucker had given to 

Connors, and emphasizing the impeachment evidence with the 

remark: "it is really convenient to simply claim that Connors' report 

was wrong." 6RP 34-35, 38. 

In sum, Isabel was not entitled to a missing witness 

instruction. If a witness' absence can be explained a missing

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